Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-22-2011

Dave's v. Linford Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39059

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

The Appellants D. Richard Linford and Lindsey Linford (the "Linfords") brought this appeal pursuant to I.R.C.P. 54(b) from the district court's grant of Respondent State Farm Fire and Casualty Company's ("State Farm") motions for summary judgment against the Linfords. The Linfords also appeal the district court's denial of their cross motion for summary judgment against State Farm.

The Linfords' home located in Boise, Idaho burned down as a result of a fire. The Linfords' homeowners' insurance policy issued by State Farm guarantees that the Linfords will be reimbursed for the amount that they actually and necessarily spend to repair the fire damage to the home. State Farm refused to fully compensate the contractor who repaired the fire damage, and the contractor filed suit against the Linfords. The Linfords tendered defense of the contractor's lawsuit to State Farm, who rejected the Linfords' tender of defense. The Linfords then filed a third party claim against State Farm alleging, among other things, that State Farm has a duty to defend the Linfords and must indemnify the Linfords for the value of the work to repair the fire damage to the home. On summary judgment, the district court dismissed all of the Linfords' claims against State Farm, which prompted this appeal.

B. Course of Proceedings

On August 13, 2009, Dave's filed its Complaint against the Linfords. (R. pp. 9-10). The relevant portion of Dave's Complaint alleges that the Linfords failed to fully compensate Dave's for its work to repair the fire damage to the Linfords' home. (R. pp. 7-8).

On September 9, 2009 and January 19, 2010, the Linfords tendered the defense of Dave's lawsuit to State Farm. (R. pp. 40, 326-30). State Farm rejected both tenders of defense. (R. p. 40-41).

On February 11, 2010, the Linfords filed a Third Party Complaint against State Farm asserting that State Farm (1) breached the policy, (2) was required to indemnify the Linfords, (3) breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and (4) committed insurance bad faith. (R. pp. 31-35).

On November 3, 2010, State Farm submitted a motion for partial summary judgment against the Linfords ("First Motion for Summary Judgment") claiming it had no duty to defend the Linfords against the allegations set forth in Dave's Complaint relating to the fire damage to the home. (R. p. 89). The Linfords then filed two motions for partial summary judgment against Dave's, which motions are not relevant in this appeal. (R. pp. 168, 176). On January 31, 2011, State Farm submitted a second motion for summary judgment that sought to dismiss the Linfords' claims of breach of contract, breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing and bad faith ("Second Motion for Summary Judgment"). (R. pp. 181-82). On February 16, 2011, the Linfords' responded to State Farm's motions for summary judgment and filed a cross motion for summary judgment asserting that State Farm had a duty to defend the Linfords against Dave's claims that it had not been fully compensated in repairing the fire damage to the home. (R. p. 242).

On March 2, 2011, in a short 53 minute hearing, the parties argued the five motions for summary judgment. (T. pp. 6-45). On April 12, 2011, the district court issued a written opinion

on the claims between State Farm and the Linfords. The district court granted both of State Farm's motions for summary judgment and denied the Linfords' cross motion for summary judgment against State Farm. (R. pp. 364-74). The district court also denied the Linfords' motion for summary judgment against Dave's. On April 14, 2011, the district court entered a judgment resolving all claims against State Farm. (R. p. 376). On July 14, 2011, the district court certified the judgment as final pursuant to I.R.C.P. 54(b). (R. p. 380). On August 5, 2011, the Linfords filed this notice of appeal pursuant to I.R.C.P. 54(b) and I.A.R. 11(a)(3). (R. p. 383).

C. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On January 19, 2007, the Linfords' home in Boise, Idaho (the "Home") was damaged in a fire. (R. pp. 92, 268). At the time of the fire, the Home was insured by a homeowner's insurance policy (the "Policy") issued by State Farm. (R. pp. 93, 364). In relevant part the Policy provides:

- a. We will pay the cost to repair or replace with similar construction and for the same use on the premises shown in the Declarations, the damaged part of the property covered under SECTION I COVERAGES, COVERAGE A DWELLING, except for wood fences, subject to the following:
- (1) until actual repair or replacement is completed, we will pay only the cash value at the time of the loss of the damaged part of the property, . . . not to exceed the cost to repair or replace the damaged part of the property;
- (2) when the repair or replacement is actually completed, we will pay the covered additional amount you actually and necessarily spend to repair or replace the damaged part of the property

(R p. 109). The Linfords timely notified State Farm of the fire damage. (R. p. 364).

On January 19, 2007, State Farm claim representative Ron Richardson sent an

introductory letter to the Linfords discussing the Policy and the Linfords' repair options. (R. pp. 271-77). Of particular note, the January 19, 2007 letter from State Farm provided as follows:

There are three scenarios available to you regarding repairs (sic) your home:

. .

2. You may have a contractor of your choice who is not a member of State Farm's PSP program make the repairs to your home. Should you choose to follow that scenario, I will create an estimate for the repairs to your home. I will give you a copy of that estimate, and a check for the actual cash value of those repairs, for you to give to your contractor. As you would see in my estimate, there would be additional money available to you once the repair process has been started by the contractor and or completed.

The two terms that you need to know in this step of the process are Replacement Cost and Actual Cash Value. In this scenario, the first check I would give you would be for the Actual Cash Value of the repairs. That means I will depreciate the value of the building materials that need to be replaced by a certain percentage because of how old they are or how much of their useful life has been utilized. Replacement Cost value, or what it will cost for a contractor to purchase new materials and use them to fix your house, will be factored in to the estimate. As soon as repairs have been completed, or you have signed a contract with the contractor to complete the repairs, Replacement Cost funds will be made available to you for those items of repair being done. Under this scenario, your \$1000 deductible would be subtracted from the value of my estimate.

(R. pp. 272-73) (emphasis added). The Linfords ultimately choose scenario two. State Farm initially estimated the cost to repair the fire damage to be \$153,751.40 (the "Initial Estimate"). (R. p. 365).

On March 20, 2007, the Linfords entered into a written contract with Dave's Inc., a local general contractor ("Dave's"), to repair the damage the Home sustained as a result of the fire (the

"Fire Damage Contract"). (R. pp. 9, 14, 365). The Fire Damage Contract provides that it is based on the amount of the Initial Estimate. *Id.* Via written correspondence dated January 19, 2007, the Linfords promptly advised State Farm that Dave's had been engaged to repair the fire damage to the Home. (R. p. 277).

The work to repair the fire damage to the Home was extensive and required the Linfords to leave the Home for several months. Because they were leaving the Home while it was being repaired, the Linfords decided to have Dave's remodel portions of the Home that were not damaged by the fire. To this end, the Linfords entered into a separate written contract with Dave's on May 9, 2007 to remodel the non-fire damaged portions of the Home (the "Remodeling Contract"). (R. p. 9, 20). The Linfords have paid Dave's a total of \$71,390.10 for its work under the Remodeling Contract. (R. p. 77). Dave's admitted in discovery that the amount owed to it under the Remodeling Contract was \$48,721.23. (R. p. 77). Based on this admission, the Linfords filed a counterclaim against Dave's that is still pending below. The Remodeling Contract and the work performed thereunder is not an issue in this appeal, and only the amount Dave's is seeking to recover for its work under the Fire Damage Contract is relevant for the purposes of this appeal.

During the repair of the fire damage to the Home, State Farm was in direct communication with Dave's. (R. pp. 280-91). The correspondence between State Farm and Dave's clearly establishes that Dave's advised State Farm on a number of occasions that its Initial Estimate and subsequent estimates for the repairs caused by the fire were not accurate. (R. pp. 278, 280, 282, 286). In addition to communicating with Dave's regarding additional work

that needed to be completed to repair the fire damage, State Farm also advised the Linfords that it was actively working with Dave's to resolve the amount due to Dave's for its repair of the fire damage. (R. p. 282). By June 10, 2008 at the latest, State Farm began sending written correspondence directly to Dave's to discuss the additional work to repair the fire damage. (R. p. 283). This June 10, 2008 correspondence indicates that State Farm agreed that its estimates needed to be increased, but State Farm also requested additional information from Dave's so it could substantiate the work Dave's performed. (R. p. 283).

On April 25, 2008, Dave's completed its repair work under the Fire Damage Contract. (R. p. 9).

On September 4, 2008, State Farm issued its last revised estimate, which estimated the total amount of the repairs related to the fire damage to be \$197,065.67 (the "Final Revised Estimate"). (R. pp. 326, 366). Dave's did not agree with the Final Revised Estimate, and on December 19, 2008, Dave's sent written correspondence directly to State Farm asserting that State Farm's pricing was "not equal to current pricing at the time of repairs" and the Final Revised Estimate was incomplete. (R. p. 292).

On June 8, 2009, State Farm sent correspondence to the Linfords discussing the difference between Dave's bills to repair the fire damage and the Final Revised Estimate. (R. p. 286). In this June 8, 2009 correspondence State Farm noted that "the bulk of the difference . . . is due to pricing" of labor as the scope of the work is "essentially the same." (R. p. 285-86).

Prior to the June 8, 2009 correspondence from State Farm to the Linfords, it was already apparent that State Farm and Dave's were not going to agree on the value of the work required to

repair the fire damage to the Home. Mr. Linford and his counsel held a meeting with Dave's and its counsel in the spring of 2009 to discuss the issue. (R. p. 269). During this meeting, the parties and their respective counsel discussed that the major difference between State Farm's Final Revised Estimate and Dave's actual cost to repair the fire damage to the Home was based upon the difference of the cost of labor. (R. p. 269).

Dave's then filed its Complaint against the Linfords, alleging breaches of both the Fire Damage Contract and the Remodeling Contract. (R. p. 7). The Linfords tendered the defense of Dave's lawsuit relating to the Fire Damage Contract to State Farm on two separate occasions. (R. pp. 40, 326-30). State Farm rejected both tenders of defense. (R. p. 40-41). The Linfords then filed a Third Party Complaint against State Farm for State Farm's failure to defend and indemnify the Linfords against Dave's claims relating to the work to repair the fire damage to the Home. (R. p. 31-35).

As the proceedings below were progressing, State Farm requested that the cost to repair the fire damage be assessed by an appraiser pursuant to the terms of the Policy. While the Linfords initially objected to the appraisal, the Linfords ultimately agreed to follow the terms of the Policy because the Policy contractually mandated that "[n]o action shall be brought unless there has been compliance with the policy provisions." (R. p. 112).

The Policy's appraisal provision states:

If you and we fall to agree on the amount of loss, either one can demand that the amount of the loss be set by appraisal. If either makes a written demand for appraisal, each shall select a competent, disinterested appraiser. Each shall notify the other of the appraiser's identity within 20 days of receipt of the written

demand. The two appraisers shall then select a competent, impartial umpire. If the two appraisers are unable to agree upon an umpire within 15 days, you or we can ask a judge of a court of record in the state where the residence premises is located to select an umpire. The appraisers shall then set the amount of the loss. If the appraisers submit a written report of an agreement to us, the amount agreed upon shall be the amount of the loss. If the appraisers fail to agree within a reasonable time, they shall submit their differences to the umpire. Written agreement signed by any two of these three shall set the amount of the loss. Each appraiser shall be paid by the party selecting that appraiser. Other expenses of the appraisal and the compensation of the umpire shall be paid equally by you and us.

(R. p. 112). On June 2, 2010, via letter agreement, the Linfords and State Farm mutually agreed to initiate an appraisal under this provision with one minor modification: the Linfords and State Farm jointly appointed a single appraiser whose fees would be paid entirely by State Farm. (R. p. 372). Of particular note, the appraisal provision in the contract provides that the appraisal process is only needed if the "amount of loss" is not agreed upon, (R. p. 112), and the June 2, 2010 letter provides that the appraiser is to "determine the cost to repair damages to the dwelling, caused by the fire, as if he was a contractor on the date of loss (amount of loss)," which date of loss was January 19, 2007. (R. p. 188).

On October 13, 2010 the appraisal process was completed. (R. p. 189). The appraiser determined that as of January 19, 2007, the amount of loss relating to the fire damage would have been estimated to be \$205,757.63 (R. p. 217), which amount was \$8,691.96 more than the Linfords had been compensated through October 13, 2010. (R. p. 218). State Farm then issued a check to the Linfords for the difference. *Id*.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the district court err in granting State Farm's First Motion for Summary Judgment in holding that State Farm had no duty to defend the Linfords?
- 2. Did the district court err in not granting the Linfords Cross Motion for Summary Judgment?
- 3. Did the district court err in granting State Farm's Second for Summary Judgment in holding that State Farm did not breach the Policy or breach the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and dismissing the Linfords' claim for insurance bad faith?

III. ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

The Linfords request attorney fees on appeal under I.A.R. 41, I.C. §§ 41-1839(1) and (4), and I.C. § 12-123. Idaho Code § 41-1839(1) provides that any insurer issuing any policy of indemnity, which does not pay within 30 days after a proof of loss is furnished, shall in any action thereafter brought pay reasonable attorney's fees. As discussed above, on September 9, 2009 and January 19, 2010, the Linfords tendered the defense of Dave's lawsuit to State Farm, which tenders State Farm rejected. (R. pp. 326-330). This triggered the duty to defend and entitled Linfords to defense costs by virtue of the Policy and I.C. § 41-1839. *Deluna v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co.*, 149 Idaho 81, 84, 86, 233 P.3d 12, 15, 17 (2008). All subsequent reasonable attorney's fees incurred by the Linfords, including this appeal, should be borne by State Farm.

IV. ARGUMENT

The Linfords submit that the district court incorrectly granted State Farm's motions for

summary judgment and denied the Linfords' cross motion for summary judgment. It is respectfully submitted that this Court should find that State Farm owes the Linfords a duty to defend against Dave's claims related to the Fire Damage Contract and that there is at least a question of fact as to whether State Farm breached the Policy, breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and acted in bad faith.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a district court's grant of summary judgment, the Supreme Court uses the same standard properly employed by the district court originally ruling on the motion. *Goodman Oil Co. of Lewiston v. Idaho State Tax Comm*, 136 Idaho 53, 55, 28 P.3d 996, 998 (2001).

Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits and admissions on file show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Idaho R. Civ. P. 56(c). Failure of a party to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case and upon which that party bears the burden of proof entitles the moving party to summary judgment as a matter of law.

When considering a motion for summary judgment, the district court is generally required to liberally construe the record in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion, drawing all reasonable inferences and conclusions in that party's favor. *Construction Management Systems, Inc. v. Assurance Co. of America*, 135 Idaho 680, 682, 23 P.3d 142, 144 (2001). Rule 56(e) requires the non-moving party to go beyond pleadings through affidavits, depositions, etc. to demonstrate that there are genuine issues of material fact. *Doe v. Durtschi*,

110 Idaho 466, 716 P.2d 1238 (1986). If the non-moving party fails to do so, then the moving party is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* at 469, 716 P.2d at 1241; *see also Sparks v. St. Luke's Reg. Medical Ctr. Ltd.*, 115 Idaho 505, 768 P.2d 768 (1988).

In applying these summary judgment standards to the facts and circumstances here, the Court should rule as a matter of law that State Farm is not entitled to summary judgment. The Linfords also request that this Court overturn the district court's denial of the Linfords' crossmotion for summary judgment on the grounds that State Farm has a duty to defend the Linfords against the portion of Dave's Complaint related to the Fire Damage Contract. *Sirius LC v. Erickson*, 144 Idaho 38, 40-41, 156 P.3d 539, 541-42 (2007) ("Upon a party's request for summary judgment, a district court has the authority to render summary judgment in favor of any party . . . even if the non-moving party has not filed its own motion.").

B. OVERVIEW OF INSURANCE LAW

"Insurance policies are a matter of contract between the insurer and the insured." AMCO Ins. Co. v. Tri-Spur Inv. Co., 140 Idaho 733, 739, 101 P.3d 226, 232 (2004). As such, insurance policies are governed by the same rules which are applicable to contracts. However, the Idaho Supreme Court has held on numerous occasions that insurance contracts "should be considered in view of their general [objectives] . . . rather than on the basis of strict technical interpretation." E.g., Rauert v. Loyal Protective Ins. Co. of Boston, Mass., 61 Idaho 677, 680, 106 P.2d 1015, 1018 (1940) (citations omitted) (emphasis in original). Moreover, the Idaho Supreme Court "has long recognized that insurance policies are contracts of adhesion, not subject to negotiation between the parties, and [they] must be construed most strongly against the

insurer." Moss v. Mid-America Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 103 Idaho 298, 300, 647 P.2d 754, 756 (1982). Finally, the law requires the court to construe an insurance policy as a whole, and a narrow construction of a policy will not be favored if it will defeat the purpose or objectives of the insurance. Intermountain Gas Co. v. Industrial Indem. Co. of Idaho, 125 Idaho 182, 185, 868 P.2d 510, 513 (Ct. App. 1994).

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