UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-10-2012

Dave's v. Linford Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39059

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

Alternatively, the Linfords argue that the Appraisal Paragraph does not apply to this dispute because the applicable loss settlement provision is missing a word. (Appellants' Brief, p.

¹⁶Whatever amount is determined in *Dave's v. Linfords* is not binding on State Farm Fire because it is not a party. Nor does the policy say it will pay what is determined in a third party case.

30.) In order to fully understand and then dispel this frivolous argument, the relevant, clear and unambiguous policy language must be explored.

There are two types of payments owed to an insured for property losses to dwellings under the subject homeowners policy property coverage. The first is known as actual cash value which is estimated and paid early in the process in order to provide the insured with funds to begin repairing the fire damage. The loss provision paragraph applicable to an actual cash value payment is paragraph 1.a.(1) (ACV Paragraph) and reads as follows:

- a. We will pay the cost to repair or replace with similar construction and for the same use of the premises . . . the damaged part of the property covered . . .subject to the following:
 - Until actual repair or replacement is completed, we will pay only the actual cash value at the time of the loss of the damaged part of the property, up to the applicable limit of liability shown in the **Declarations** not to exceed the cost to repair or replace the damaged part of the property; ..."

(R., p. 109.) This estimate of damages applies until the repair of the fire loss is completed. Before repairs were completed, State Farm Fire estimated and paid to the Linfords ACV in the amount of \$153,751.40. (R., p. 365.)

Once the fire damage repair has been completed, a different payment amount is made if additional amounts are warranted by the circumstances of the repair (i.e., RC is more than ACV).

This is for replacement cost under paragraph 1.a.(2) (RC Paragraph).

(2) When the repair or replacement is actually completed, we will pay the covered additional amount you actually and necessarily spend to repair or replace the damaged part of the property, or an amount up to the applicable limit of liability shown in the **Declarations**, whichever is less;

(R., p. 109.) After repairs were completed, State Farm Fire calculated and paid an additional amount of \$43,314.27 in replacement cost, which subsumed the ACV amount already paid, for a total amount of loss of \$197,065.67. (R., p. 1.)

The Linfords agree the RC Paragraph is the applicable provision because the repairs to the house have been completed. (Appellants' Brief, p. 29.) But, the Linfords argue that the Appraisal Paragraph does not apply to the RC Paragraph and only applies to the ACV Paragraph. (Appellants' Brief, p. 30.) Therefore, the Linfords argue the appraisal is not binding upon them and/or it determined the actual cash value and therefore the appraisal is irrelevant to the amount owed now that repairs have been concluded. This house of cards is built upon the absence of a single word in the RC Paragraph – "loss".

First, whether the Appraisal Paragraph applies to the ACV Paragraph or the RC Paragraph is a red herring argument. The Letter Agreement establishes that the amount of loss to be determined by appraisal "was the cost to repair damages, caused by fire, as if he was a contractor on the date of the loss (amount of loss)". (R., p. 188.) Whether the Appraisal Paragraph applies to a determination of the amount of loss under the ACV or RC Paragraphs is irrelevant. Indeed, the parties agreed the appraisal process was to determine what was owed under Coverage A, including what was actually and necessarily spent. The Letter Agreement controls as to how the amount of loss is to be determined. The tortured route taken by the Linfords to ignore their own agreement is prime evidence of the frivolous nature of their appeal.

-27-

Second, even ignoring the Letter Agreement modification as the Linfords do, no reasonable interpretation of the absence of the word "loss" in the RC Paragraph exempts the dispute over how much is owed the Linfords from the appraisal dispute resolution process set forth in the Appraisal Paragraph. On its face, it applies to <u>all</u> disputes over the amount of loss. (R., p. 112.) Regardless of the label used by the Linfords, they are disputing the amount of loss owed to them under the homeowners policy. The Appraisal Paragraph unambiguously applies to all disputes over the amount of loss whether the Linfords call it as ACV dispute, an RC dispute, an actually and necessarily spent to repair dispute or a banana dispute.

The Linfords argue that the Appraisal Paragraph applies to the ACV Paragraph but not to the RC Paragraph because the former has the word "loss" and the latter does not. The RC Paragraph has no different purpose than the ACV Paragraph – to provide the parameters for determining the amount of loss. The ACV Paragraph provides for determining the amount of loss <u>before</u> repairs are completed; the RC Paragraph provides for determining the amount of loss <u>after</u> repairs are completed.

In addition, the context of the RC Paragraph clearly establishes that it is used to determine the amount of loss despite the absence of the word "loss" and is therefore subject to the Appraisal Paragraph. The RC Paragraph is found in Section I – <u>Loss</u> Settlement. (R. p. 109.) The introductory paragraph to that section states "[w]e will settle covered property <u>losses</u> according to the following." (*Id.*) (Emphasis added.) The next subparagraph identifies itself as "1.A. – Replacement Cost <u>Loss</u> Settlement – Similar Construction." (*Id.*) (Emphasis added.) The RC Paragraph is a sub-subparagraph in Section I – Loss Settlement and it is under the

-28-

introductory paragraph and under the Similar Construction Loss Settlement paragraph heading. (*Id.*) The next sub subparagraph modifies the RC Paragraph and also has the word "loss" in it. (*Id.*) The Appraisal Paragraph says "amount of loss" or "amount of the loss" not once, but five times. (R., p. 112.)

warman warman the war with the same of the set

It is axiomatic that, when construing contract provisions, it must be done within the context in which it occurs in the policy. *Armstrong v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 147 Idaho 67, 70, 205 P.3d 1203, 1206 (2009). Contract interpretation cannot be done in a vacuum. Yet the Linfords do just that. The Linfords argue that because the word "loss" is in the ACV Paragraph, is absent in the RC Paragraph, and because the purpose of the Appraisal Paragraph is to determine the amount of "loss", the Appraisal Paragraph does not apply to the RC Paragraph. The Linfords' "interpretation" of the absence of the word "loss" in the RC Paragraph ignores its context, including the section heading, introductory paragraph, title to the paragraph of which it is a subparagraph and the modifying sub-subparagraph following the RC Paragraph. All of these contain the word "loss". In context, the absence of the word "loss" does not exempt the dispute from appraisal. No reasonable interpretation of the policy can conclude that the RC Paragraph is not a paragraph designed to determine the amount of loss as referred to in the Appraisal Paragraph.

Just as unreasonable is the Linfords' argument that the Letter Agreement is irrelevant to this appeal.

b. <u>The June 2, 2010 Letter Agreement is the Operative Document for</u> Determining the Amount Owed Under the Duty to Indemnify.

The Linfords' compare and contrast the language in the Appraisal Paragraph and the Letter Agreement and come to the astounding conclusion that other than the modification from three to one appraiser, they "are exactly the same." (Appellants' Brief, pp. 28-29.) Therefore, the Linfords continue, "only an examination of the language contained in the Appraisal Paragraph of the Policy is relevant to the current dispute" and since the Appraisal Paragraph only applies to ACV disputes, <u>both</u> the Letter Agreement and the Appraisal Paragraph are irrelevant. (*Id.* at p. 29.) It is through this tortured "logic" the Linfords distance themselves from their own agreements and contracts and claim they are not bound by the appraisal amount.

The Letter Agreement cannot be ignored or compared away. It makes not one procedural modification, but a total of nine modifications to the Appraisal Paragraph and/or loss settlement provisions of the Policy, many of which are substantive. These include:

- the parties agree to resolve and set the amount of loss under <u>Coverage A</u> of the Policy by appraisal;

. . .

- Mr. Berkson will determine the cost to repair damages to the dwelling, caused by the fire, as if he was a contractor on the date of loss (amount of loss);

- Mr. Berkson will provide a written appraisal of the amount of loss to the insureds and State Farm;

- the parties agree to be bound by the written appraisal. . . .

(R., p. 188.) (Emphasis added.) The Letter Agreement makes it clear that the end result of the appraisal process was to resolve the extant dispute between State Farm Fire and the Linfords.¹⁷ It was to establish the amount of loss owed to the Linfords under Coverage A. The Letter Agreement required a written appraisal of the amount of loss "to the insured", again emphasizing that the appraisal was to determine what was owed to the Linfords and thereby resolve the dispute between the parties. It sets forth the precise method that is to be used by the appraiser in determining the amount of loss. It is undisputed that the appraiser used that method. (R., p. 189.) This method became the agreed upon loss settlement provision. The Linfords agreed to be bound by the written appraiser's determination of the amount owed under the Coverage A. State Farm Fire paid the additional amount owed as determined by the appraisal. The Linfords accepted the benefits of the process but now refuse to be bound by it. Instead, they ask the Court to relieve them of their agreements, rewrite the insurance policy and allow them to make State Farm Fire guarantors of any judgment entered in Dave's lawsuit. The Letter Agreement is a primary operative document. The Linfords' attempts to minimize, ignore or otherwise make this key document irrelevant are frivolous and unreasonable.

Perhaps one of the most disingenuous arguments against being bound by the written appraisal is the Linfords' argument that the appraiser did not determine the amount of loss owed them, but instead determined "a different estimate of the actual cash value". (Appellants' Brief,

¹⁷The Third Party Complaint by the Linfords against State Farm Fire makes it clear the extant dispute was over how much more, if any, the Linfords were entitled to receive for repairs of the fire damage to their house. (R., pp. 75-84.)

p. 31.) (quoting from Tr. p. 24.) First, ACV is at issue only until repairs are completed. Once repairs are completed the only amount at issue is replacement cost. It is undisputed ACV was paid and repairs were completed long before either the Letter Agreement or the appraisal. Consequently, at the time the Letter Agreement was signed and when the appraisal occurred, ACV was not, and could not be, at issue. To argue that the written appraisal determined a "different" ACV ignores their own Third Party Complaint describing the dispute, ignores the undisputed fact that repairs were completed, ignores the express provisions of the Letter Agreement and contorts the policy language beyond any reasonable interpretation.

Second, based on their arguments on appeal it is now clear that the Linfords had no intention of being bound by the Letter Agreement or the appraisal results either before, during or after agreeing to participate. The Linfords state they decided to "go along with the appraisal" because: (1) they needed to comply with the following provision: "[n]o action shall be brought against [State Farm Fire] unless there has been compliance with the policy provision"¹⁸; and (2) they got State Farm Fire to pay all costs and expenses of the appraisal. (Appellants' Brief, p. 28.) (*See also*, Tr. p. 24.)

In other words, knowing they had already been paid ACV, and knowing repairs had been completed, and knowing the ACV Paragraph was no longer operative, and knowing they had accepted a supplemental payment after repairs were completed (which by definition could only be payment of replacement costs), and knowing the Letter Agreement was signed after repairs

¹⁸This provision relates to an insured's ability to sue the insurer. Consequently, the Linfords agreed to appraisal in order to continue their suit against State Farm Fire.

were completed, and knowing the appraisal occurred after the repairs were completed, and accepting even more money as a result of the appraisal, the Linfords agreed to go along with an appraisal process they thought was unnecessary and irrelevant to the resolution of the actual dispute between State Farm Fire and them. The motives for going along with the appraisal are far more sinister when examined in the light of their own arguments – if State Farm Fire was willing to foot the bill for the unnecessary appraisal, it allowed them to continue their suit against State Farm Fire for breach of contract and bad faith.

Third, at no time prior to the appraisal, not even at the time of negotiating the Letter Agreement modifications, did the Linfords inform State Farm Fire of their view that the appraisal was meaningless and/or was merely a necessary step to avoid dismissal of their action. This Court has held that if there is a concern regarding an alternative dispute resolution process at the time of contracting, and nothing is said or done to address that concern, the parties are nevertheless bound by the alternative dispute resolution results regardless of the validity of the concerns. *See, Martel v. Bullotti*, 138 Idaho 451, 196-7, 65 P.3d 192, 455-6 (2003) (The potential bias of the architect selected to settle the dispute was known at the time of contracting so the parties were bound by the contract dispute resolution process and result.) Here, the parties contracted to make modifications to the alternative dispute resolution process and to the loss settlement provisions in the insurance policy by Letter Agreement. The parties were already in a dispute over the amount owed. The Linfords had reservations/concerns about the appraisal process. Nevertheless, the Linfords agreed to appraisal as modified. Based on their silence, the Linfords are bound by the written appraisal and cannot now complain about the process or the

-33-

result. *See J.R. Simplot Co. v. Chambers*, 82 Idaho 104, 110, 350 P.2d 211, 214 (1960). (This Court cannot make for the Linfords a better agreement than they themselves were satisfied to make.)

The Linfords' hypothetical in their Brief points out the fallacy of their position regarding appraisal in the present matter. (Appellants' Brief, pp. 32-33.) The Linfords hypothesis is based on the following assumptions: (1) a friend repaired the fire damage but waived overhead and profit; (2) the Linfords only paid \$150,000.00 under that arrangement; (3) this amount was challenged by State Farm Fire as too high; and (4) the appraiser found the cost of repairs to be \$200,000.00. Based on these facts, the Linfords hypothesize that State Farm Fire would pay only \$150,000.00 because that was all the Linfords actually paid.

State Farm Fire's conduct in this case proves the hypothesis wrong. State Farm Fire did not ignore the appraisal award and choose a lower amount to pay. By their own admission, the Linfords have only paid Dave's \$173,369.99 under the Fire Damage Contract. (R., pp. 53; 176; 343-344.) Under the Linfords' hypothesis and interpretation of the policy, State Farm Fire could have paid this amount as the amount actually and necessarily spent to repair fire damage at the time of the appraisal. It paid, however, the higher appraisal amount. State Farm Fire complied with its agreement to be bound by the appraisal. The only parties who have failed to live up to their agreement is the Linfords.

The Linfords have contracted away their right to challenge either the appraisal process or the appraiser's decision except on limited grounds not raised below or on appeal. Nevertheless, the Linfords have done exactly what they contracted away – challenge its application to them.

-34-

The Linfords are bound by the results of the appraisal and to say otherwise is frivolous and unsupportable.

c. <u>The Linfords' Reliance on Kane is Misplaced</u>.¹⁹

The Linfords argue the district court's indemnity holding should be overturned based on a so-called "admission" made by State Farm Fire in a class action filed in a foreign jurisdiction (Pennsylvania). (Appellants' Brief, p. 34.) (citing *Kane v. State Farm Fire, et al.*, 841 A.2d 1038 (Penn. 2003).) *Kane* is unpersuasive and irrelevant to this appeal and, worst of all, the "admission" was not made by State Farm Fire.

First, the *Kane* case dealt with a different policy provision (ACV) and a different issue (deducting depreciation from actual cash value) at a different point in the repair process (before repairs had been completed). This precludes *Kane* 's use against State Farm Fire in this case.

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